#### HEBREW UNION COLLEGE - JEWISH INSTITUTE OF RELIGION New York School

### INSTRUCTIONS TO LIBRARY

Statement		The Senior Thesis of Chester B. Diamend
by Referee		Entitled: The Dependence of Kashi and Kim
		on Targum in their Commentaries on amos
	1)	May (with revisions) be considered for publication ()() yes no
	2)	May be circulated ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) to faculty to students to alumni no restriction
	3)	May be consulted in Library only ( ) by faculty by students
ay	h	by alumni no restriction  Lean Lebraich  (signature of referee)
Statement by Author	• <b>== •</b> • •• •	I hereby give permission to the Library to circulate my thesis
	t-	The Library may sell positive microfilm copies of my thesis  ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) no
	eidenscheidende	(date)  (date)  (date)  (signature of author)
يثب بيات بيات شد كالله الله الله الله الله الله الله الل	***	**************************************
the state of the s	The	above-named thesis was microfilmed on
Record		(date)
	٠.	
	,	For the Library
* .		(signature of staff member)

## HEBREW UNION COLLEGE - JEWISH INSTITUTE OF RELIGION New York School

Report on the Dissertation Submitted by Chester B. Diamond for the Master of Arts in Hebrew Literature Degree and Ordination

## The Dependence of Rashi and Kimhi on Targum in their Commentaries on Amos

The author of this dissertation proposed to discover what motivates Rashi and Redaq to have recourse to the Targum in their exegetical labors. With this aim in mind, he assembled all Targumic citations in the commentaries of these exegetes on the Book of Amos. With these data before him, he scrutinized each Targumic citation.

As a result, Mr. Diamond has made a worthwhile contribution to the subject. To begin with, he discovered that the citations lend themselves to broad classification. As a result, he indicates, on the one hand, all such instances where the commentators adduce the Targum in order to express their agreement with it, and, on the other, all such cases where the Targum is employed to highlight disagreement with it. Furthermore, the author has succeeded in confirming what had been known previously, namely, that Redaq is far more critical in his use of the Targum than Rashi.

The candidate has worked assiduously, exhibiting keen insight in the handling of his material. His effort merits an "A" grade.

Respectfully submitted,

Leon J. Tiebreich

April 19, 1963

## THE DEPENDENCE OF RASHI AND KIMHI ON TARGUM IN THEIR COMMENTARIES ON AMOS

CHESTER B. DIAMOND

Hebrew Union College Sewish Institute of Religion Library

Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of Requirements for the Master of Arts in Hebrew Literature Degree and Ordination

Hebrew Union College-Jewish Institute of Religion New York, N. Y.

Date February 21, 1963

Advisor: Professor Leon J. Liebreich

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am indeed grateful to my revered teacher Dr. Leon

J. Liebreich, whose guidance and scholastic acumen were
indispensable in the preparation of this thesis, to the
library staff of the Hebrew Union College-Jewish Institute
of Religion in New York for their gracious assistance
and to my loving wife Carol for her understanding and
encouragement and for typing this manuscript.

C.B.D.

#### PREFACE

Unless otherwise indicated, definitions of biblical Hebrew words and statements as to their frequency of occurrence, are based upon the Hebrew and English Lexicon of the Old Testament by Brown, Driver and Briggs in conjunction with the Concordance of the Bible by Solomon Mandelkern; translations of biblical verses are in accordance with the JPS version and definitions of targumic Aramaic terms are based upon the Dictionary of the Targumim, the Talmud Babli and Yerushalmi, and the Midrashic Literature by Marcus Jastrow.

Unfortunately A. Sperber's critical edition of the Targum to the Latter Prophets was not published in time to be fully utilized in the preparation of this thesis. However, since it became available before the thesis was completed, it was employed to a limited degree and helped to resolve several difficult problems.

Many of the textual difficulties in Kimhi were resolved by consulting an old edition of Mikraoth Gedoloth (i.e. the Basel ed., 1619).

Finally, I. Maarsen's critical edition of Rashi's commentary on the Prophets was indispensable.

1 41.-

C.B.D.

#### CONTENTS

	Page	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	ii	
PREFACE	iii	
INTRODUCTION	1	
I. TARGUM CITATIONS IN SUPPORT OF INTERPRETATIONS OF DIFFICULT WORDS AND PHRASES	2	
II. TARGUM CITATIONS BY WAY OF CONTRAST IN THE INTERPRETATION OF DIFFICULT WORDS AND PHRASES	16	
III. TARGUM CITATIONS AS ALTERNATE RENDERINGS IN THE INTERPRETATION OF DIFFICULT WORDS AND PHRASES	27	
IV. THE ELIMINATION OF POETIC IMAGERY FOR PROSE	30	
V. MISCELLANEOUS	. 38	
A. To Elucidate Grammatical Problems	38	
1. By Way of Contrast	38	
2. As an Alternate Rendering	39	
B. For Midrashic Interpretation	40	
1. In Support	40	
2. By Way of Contrast	40	
3. As an Alternate Rendering	41	
C. Targum of Another Biblical Book Cited to Help Elucidate the Text of Amos	42	
CONCLUSION		
NOTES		
R TRI TOCE % DUV	5.0	

#### INTRODUCTION

The biblical commentaries of Rashi and Kimhi are replete with citations from Targum. How copiously they quote Targum is evident from even a cursory study of their exegis. question which naturally arises is, "Why do they have recourse to Targum, and to what degree are they dependent on it?" I have attempted to answer this question exclusively with regard to the Book of Amos. In Rashi's commentary on this biblical book alone there are fifty-four citations from Targum, and in Kimhi's there are fifty-seven. Each cites it, therefore, on an average of six times per chapter. Having assembled every targumic quotation, I have analyzed each to discover why it was adduced and have categorized my findings. Although this thesis deals with but one biblical book, it is expected that throughout the Bible the two exegetes consistently revert to the same sources for similar reasons. Therefore, their reasons for adducing Targum in the Book of Amos should be a reflection of their reasons for citing it in other parts of the Bible. Of course, only further study can attest to the validity of this assumption.

### I. TARGUM CITATIONS IN SUPPORT OF INTERPRETATIONS OF DIFFICULT WORDS AND PHRASES

Generally, words and phrases are considered difficult either if they occur infrequently or if they are used in unusual contexts. It is in the elucidation of such words and phrases that Rashi and Kimhi have recourse to Targum either in support of their own interpretations or by way of contrast. There are also instances when they are neither in absolute agreement nor absolute disagreement with Targum. In such cases it is cited as an alternate rendering. This first chapter deals with those Targum citations adduced by Rashi and Kimhi in support of their interpretations of difficult words and phrases, while Chapters II and III deal, respectively, with contrasting citations and alternate renderings.

#### A. Targum Citations in Support

#### 1:1a

#### 1:3b

The noun f/2/2 is not at all common. Its basic meaning indicates some type of sharp instrument. The question is,

2:1b

2:6b, 8:6a

Woe unto them that join house to house, That lay field to field, Till there be no room...(Isa.5:8).

Of course Rashi does not say so, but his interpretation implies that perhaps Targum did not read  $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{I})$  at all, but rather the perfect form of the verb  $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{I})$ . Though such a hypothesis would resolve the problem of the great divergence between Targum and the Masoretic Text, it would be very difficult to validate since  $\mathcal{I}(\mathcal{I})$  is never followed by a perfect form of the verb in the entire Bible.

#### 2:8a

Rashi adopts Targum to explain the meaning of the phrase:  $(C') \times (C') \times (C')$ 

security for his debts, and make couches out of them, upon which they recline when they feast.

2:9a

Here it is Kimhi who adopts Targum:  $\int C \int \Delta$ , "oaks," for the infrequently occurring  $D' \int C$ .

2:11a, 12a

The problem in these two verses is not so much that of a difficult word as it is an unusual rendering by Targum. The word in question is  $\mathcal{D}' \supset J$ , "Nazarites," which as understood by Targum means  $\int \partial \mathcal{D} \mathcal{N}$ , "teachers." This is clearly a deviation from the plain meaning of  $\mathcal{D}' \supset J$ , which in the Bible has nothing to do with teaching. Rashi adopts Targum in both these passages and explains that a teacher is a  $\mathcal{D}' \supset J$  in the sense that he separates himself from worldly cares and affairs in order to engage exclusively in the dissemination of Torah. A more complete discussion as to why Targum deviates from the common usage of  $\mathcal{D}' \supset J$  can be found in chapter II (7:16b).

3:12a

In this passage both Rashi and Kimhi adopt Targum: OIPOP, "cartilages," for the hapax legomenon fga.

3:12b

According to its vocalization  $\bigcap \mathcal{CN}$  is a hapax legomenon. Following Targum it is synonymous with  $\bigcap \mathcal{CN}$  , "Damascus." Rashi cites this view with which he is in accord. (Not so Kimhi, cf. chapt. II.)

Rashi also adopts Targum that  $\mathfrak{I}(17)0$  are small fishing boats. (Not so Kimhi, cf. chapt. III.)

4:6a

In the context of this verse //c has a slightly different connotation from that which it generally has. The usual rendering is "wickedness" or "iniquity" and is used in just that way by Hosea in a parallel verse:

And come not ye unto Gilgal,
Neither go ye up to Beth-aven...(Hos.4:5b).

Beth-aven, "House of iniquity" is Hosea's contemptuous way
of referring to Beth-el. Amos too inveighs against those
who:

Come to Beth-el, and transgress, To Gilgal, and multiply transgression...(4:4a).

And he further admonishes:

...seek not Beth-el,
Nor enter into Gilgal...
For Gilgal shall surely
go into captivity,
And Beth-el shall become ///c (5:5).

Clearly, then, in 5:5 //c is a punishment for Beth-el, because of its idolatry and iniquity.

Rashi adopts Targum's rendering of //c, which is: /cN, and explains that it means /an, "vanity." Furthermore, he cites Hosea 12:12a where it is parallel to /c/c, another word for "vanity."

Kimhi, being in full agreement with Rashi, explains that in this context //c is to be understood as "vanity" or "nothingness," just as it is in Psalm 90:10a: NY D27///c/, "yet is their pride but travail and vanity." He then cites Targum: LNS, in support of his interpretation

and like Rashi explains its meaning (i.e.  $\int 2\pi$ ).

In keeping with these interpretations JPS renders:
"And Beth-el shall come to nought."

#### 5:9a

That strengthens the weak against the strong." In this interpretation of  $\mathcal{A}^{\ell}$ , Rashi makes it evident that he has been influenced by Targum by citing the tough not citing.

#### 5:10a

Although TYC can simply mean "gate," it often denotes "the seat of courts." In order to indicate that in this passage TYCA has precisely the latter meaning, Rashi incorporates Targum's paraphrase, namely, CJA JA JA JYCA, "in the gates of the courthouses," directly into the text of his own comment. His utilization of Targum in this manner again calls attention to its expository nature.

#### 5:16b

Rashi adopts Targum in the elucidation of the difficult Hebrew phrase '5)  $/\sqrt{2}/\sqrt{1/2}$  He explains that

6:4b

Kimhi cites Targum in further elucidation of the not too common word  $\mathcal{D}'\mathcal{I}\mathcal{I}$ . He explains that it means "fat lambs" and that the adjective "fat," though not present, is understood. He adduces Targum:  $f'\mathcal{N}'\mathcal{I}\mathcal{I}$ , "fatlings," in support of this contention.

6:8a

Rashi cites Targum:  $\int 2JN$ , "to disgrace" or "make vile," to support his view that 2/cJN should be understood as if it were 27JN which means "to loathe." (Not so Kimhi, cf. chapt. II, 6:8a.)

The BDB Lexicon, by regarding  $\mathcal{P} \not\sim \mathcal{D}$  as erroneous for

 $\mathcal{N}$  , is thus in keeping with Rashi and Targum.

#### 6:10a

Targum is cited by Rashi in support of his contention that 1070N and 1717 in the phrase 1719 16011

1070N/ refer to the relative who delivers the bones of his kinsman from a conflagration. Such an interpretation, however, is not obvious from the context, since 1070N, being an active participle, implies that the relative involved was to cremate the corpse rather than save it from burning. Thus, JPS, following the plain meaning of the verse, renders: "And when a man's uncle shall take him up, even he that burneth him..."

#### 6:10b, 8:3b

On is an infrequent word generally understood as "hush!" or "keep silence!" Yet in 6:10 Rashi renders:  $7^{\prime}$  or "cast forth and remove!" basing his interpretation on Targum:  $7^{\prime}$  O. Again in 8:3 Targum:  $7^{\prime}$  O is adopted by Rashi. (Not so Kimhi, cf. chapt. II, 8:3b.)

The question is, "Why did Targum render  $\int \int O for O \Re ?$ " Is this not a departure from the Masoretic Text? Is it possible that Targum's <u>Vorlage</u> read not  $O \Re O$  but  $O \Re O$ , "remove!"? This indeed sounds plausible, since  $\int \int O for O \Re O$ , "remove!"? equivalent of  $O \Re O$ . Yet there is strong evidence to the contrary, to wit, whenever the Masoretic Text does read  $O \Re O$ . Targum in almost all instances renders:  $O \Re O \Re O$  but never  $O \Re O \Re O$ . Although they are almost identical in meaning,

Targum preferred to render the Hiphil 700 by the equivalent Aphel '31/6 rather than by the Pael  $\int_{0}^{1} \int_{0}^{1} O$ . It is unlikely, therefore, that in the three instances (Jud.3:19b, Am.6:10b and 8:3b) in which we find  $\mathcal{P}' = 0$  for 0, Targum was operating with the variant reading 900. The question still remains, "If Targum read OO then why is it rendered P'Oand not by the Aramaic for 'keep silence!'?" According to Jastrow p' lo in these contexts does mean "hush!" or "keep silence!"10 But he has no basis for drawing this conclusion other than the fact that since the Hebrew text reads 00, and Targum renders  $\gamma' / o$ , therefore,  $\gamma' / o$  means "silence!" This is an easy and erroneous way of resolving the problem, since there is no other evidence that  $\gamma' \downarrow o$  ever means "silence!" The problem can be resolved, however, by studying On in the contexts where it is translated  $\gamma' lo$ . relevant portion of Judges 3:19 reads as follows;

...'I have a secret errand unto thee, O king.' And he said: 'On.' And all that stood by him went out from him.

According to the sense of this passage OO could be understood as the command "leave!" "depart!" or "remove yourselves!" This makes perfect sense in this context, for immediately following the utterance of OO by the king, his servants took leave of him. It would seem, therefore, that the targumist rendered OO for OO ad sensum. Rashi's explanation of Targum confirms this view. He says, "But Jonathan trans-

lates 00: produced in the context of 6:10, where 00 is regarded as a command to remove the bones from the house.

And in 8:3, where it is preceded by produced produc

#### 7:1b

#### 7:2b

Once again Targum is adopted by Rashi to explain a difficult passage. According to Targum's paraphrase, the Prophet petitions God to forgive the remnant of Jacob, which having been exiled, cannot rise to answer for its sins. Rashi specifically cites  $\frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{2} \frac{$ 

#### 7:14a

According to Rashi, when Amos, having been calumniated by Amaziah, replied, "I was no prophet," he meant that he

8:3b

Rashi believes that  $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{I}}$ , "corpse," though not a difficult word, needs further modification. It is for this reason that he adopts Targum:  $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{I}}$   $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{I}}$   $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{I}}$   $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{I}}$  , which indicates that  $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{I}}$  refers not to people who had died of natural causes or by accident, but who, specifically, were slain.

8:5a

The noun  $\int \partial N$ , though derived from the ordinary root  $\int \partial J$ , is in itself an uncommon word. In addition to this passage, it appears only in Job 41:15a, where it means "the hanging (falling, drooping) parts." To clarify its particular meaning in 8:6 Rashi adopts Targum:  $\int NNDN$ , and then explains that  $\int DN$  or  $\int NNDD$  means "refuse." Thus, Rashi interprets, "The refuse which fell from the wheat in the sieve we shall sell at an exorbitant price to the poor."

9:5a

The verb \( \lambda / N \) is generally thought to mean "melt," but Rashi is not fully in accord with this view. On three occasions (i.e. Ex.15:15b, Ps.46:6b and 65:11b) he does render "melt." However, in four other instances (i.e. I Sam.14:16b, Isa. 64:6b, Am.9:5a and Nah.2:7b) he renders \( \forall / J \), "shake" or "move." After studying Rashi's comment on Psalm 46:6b, it becomes apparent that whenever he says "melt" he is following Menahem ben Saruk, and whenever he interprets "shake" he is in accordance with Dunash ibn Labrat. \( \forall 1 \) In 9:5 he follows Dunash and adopts Targum: \( \forall ' \forall / \) which supports this view.

The next question that comes to mind is, "Why does the Targumist render  $\gamma'\beta$  for  $\gamma'N\beta$ ?" Perhaps he was influenced by  $\beta(\gamma\beta)$ , "tremble" in 8:8a, since 8:8 contains very strong parallels to 9:5.

## II. TARGUM CITATIONS BY WAY OF CONTRAST IN THE INTERPRETATION OF DIFFICULT WORDS AND PHRASES

2:7a

In 8:4a the word  $\mathcal{D}'\mathcal{D}/c\ell$  appears, and Kimhi has no difficulty in interpreting it in that context. He explains that it has the sense of "gluttony," and that it refers to the wealthy hoarders of fruit who, through fraud and oppression, take money from the poor. In 8:4 he has no recourse to Targum, but in 2:7 he does, for the context of 2:7 makes D'∂/ℓ very difficult to understand. Kimhi proceeds to draw a parallel to 8:4 and interprets it basically in the same manner, namely, that  $10^{10}$ % means "gluttony." The primary difference is that in 2:7 the gluttonous ones are the judges who appoint officers to exact payment from the poor. If they do not pay, they are taken to a court presided over by one of these venal judges, and are punished by being thrown to the ground and trampled upon, thus causing the dust of the earth to be upon their heads. But the difficult phraseology of 2:7 makes its interpretation far from certain. And so, Kimhi offers the contrasting opinion of the Targumist, that  $N' \mathcal{D} \not \in \ell$  rather than being a term for "gluttony," means "to smear." Targum's rendering is based on a parallel root f/e, the Aramaic for which is G/e. Thus, f'G''eq/c」'つのN C'つコ /cと7/c3 /cつひみ, means "who smear the dust of the earth upon the heads of the poor."

#### 3:12b

Kimhi regards the hapax legomenon  $\bigcap_{i=1}^{n} \bigcap_{i=1}^{n} \bigcap_{i=1$ 

#### 4:3b

Kimhi renders the hapax legomenon  $\Im J/N \Im \Im$ , as  $\Im J/N \Im / \Im \Im$ , "her palaces." He believes that the letter "He" has been substituted for an "Aleph." This rendering is in keeping with his father's view which he cites. Targum, on the other hand, is offered in contrast, for it renders  $^{\prime}J'N \Im \Im ^{\prime} \Im /G$ , "The Mountains of Harmine."

Rashi's citation of Targum: J/N70'716/N and his explanation that J/N70 means 9701600, "extermination and destruction," leads one to believe that he was operating with a variant reading of Targum. He must have read J/N70 and not J/N70 as in our version. This opinion is confirmed by both I. Maarsen and A. Sperber. 17

Both Rashi and Kimhi cite Targum in contrast to their literal understanding of \( \mathbb{N} \mathbb{N} \), "that which is leavened."

Rashi explains it on the basis of the prohibition in the Torah against the offering of leaven: "No meal-offering, which ye shall bring unto the Lord, shall be made with leaven; for ye shall make no leaven, nor any honey, smoke as an offering made by fire unto the Lord" (Levit.2:11).

At this point it is necessary to correct a copyist's error in the text of Rashi, an error which I. Maarsen overlooked when he prepared his critical text of Rashi on the Prophets. There has been a transposition of proof texts. Leviticus 2:11: "for ye shall make no leaven...smoke as an offering ... " appears to be the proof text for the last part of the preceding verse: "And your tithes after three days" (4:4b). But this would make little sense, for what does the prohibition against the offering of leaven have to do with the time element in the bringing of tithes? Similarly Deuteronomy 23:22a: "thou shalt not be slack to pay it," appears to be the proof text for the beginning of verse 5: "And offer a sacrifice of thanksgiving of that which is leavened." This too makes little sense. The problem is resolved by reversing the two proof texts as follows: verse 4: "And your tithes after three days," the Torah says: "thou shalt not be slack to pay it"; and verse 5: "And offer a sacrifice

of thanksgiving of that which is leavened," the Torah says:
"for ye shall make no leaven...smoke as an offering." This
reading would make perfect sense. In all probability the
transposition occurred because of the close proximity of
these verses in the text of Rashi, and because both are
introduced by the same words:  $\Omega = 0.00$ 

Kimhi's interpretation is also according to the "peshat" of NN but is based on Leviticus 7:13: "With cakes of leavened bread he shall present his offering with the sacrifice of his peace-offerings for thanksgiving." This indicates that leavened bread may accompany the thank-offering, but not that the offering itself is to be NNN, "made out of leaven."

Thus, both Rashi and Kimhi, for basically the same reasons, would agree that 4:5 is a denunciation by the Prophet of those who would "offer a sacrifice of thanksgiving of that which is leavened." But the Targum combines  $\mathcal{G}N\mathcal{D}$  with  $\mathcal{G}/\mathcal{N}\mathcal{D}$ , "the oppressed," in Isaiah 1:17a, which both Rashi and Kimhi cite. It is reasonable to assume, therefore, that the Targumist, who preceded the Masoretes by some five hundred years, read not  $\mathcal{D}N\mathcal{D}$  as in our text, but rather  $\mathcal{D}N\mathcal{D}$ .

#### 5:11a

Again the commentators are faced with a hapax legomenon, DDO(1), but oddly enough Rashi, who generally cites Targum in such matters and often adopts it, makes no reference to it

at all. Kimhi, on the other hand, does quote Targum, although it is in contrast to his own view. He explains that it is a hapax and that its meaning must be determined from the context i.e. "you burdened" or "you troubled." "He (Amos) said this," explains Kimhi, "with regard to the nobles and the judges." He then proceeds to criticize the targumic rendering as being grammatically impossible. Targum has //267N2, showing that the "Beth" in  $\rho J O \ell / \rho$  is regarded as a prefix. He then continues to explain Targum, who apparently understood the verb to be DOOL, by citing I Samuel 23:1b: D'O/L "They rob," and Jeremiah 50:11a: O/C, "O ye that plunder." He then offers his father's opinion that the "Shin" is in place of a "Samekh" and gives as an example 7:14b, where the O(1) is equivalent to e(1), which means to "search" or "examine." Finally, Kimhi gives his own opinion as to the grammar and meaning of the word in question. He calls it  $\gamma_{P}/\gamma_{N}$  his way of saying that it is a Polel form, namely,  $\mathcal{DOOIP}$ . According to this view it is of the same paradigm as  $\mathcal{NOJYG}$  ,  $^{18}$  and its meaning is  $\mathcal{NONO}$  , "to tread upon," as is the meaning of  $\Omega_{JO/2/c}$  (Isa.14:25a).

5:16b

Kimhi regards 'n J' V 9/' // 200N/ as a case of synonymous parallelism as does Rashi (cf. chapt. I, 5:16b). However, in contrast to Rashi, Kimhi takes exception to Targum. According to Kimhi, the parallelism only becomes

obvious if one mentally transposes the words /k 200N/ /3/3/3/ to read 200N/k /3/3/3/. It is his view, therefore, that 200N is parallel to 12/k and 13/3/3/2 to 12/3/2 to 12/k. Kimhi, who obviously reads 220N, and not 2/30N as Targum must have (cf. chapt. I, 5:16b), is opposed to the supplying by Targum of a word missing from the Hebrew text, namely, 2/31/3.

5:26a

Targum is cited in contrast to Kimhi because of its unusual interpretation of  $\mathcal{NSSN}$ , "your king," which he takes literally. Targum:  $\mathcal{NSSN}$  is explained by Kimhi, in general terms, as "something pertaining to the practice of idolatry." Jastrow defines it, "embroidered cloth over the heads of idolatrous statues."  $^{20}$ 

#### 6:4a

The root 0.70 occurs but eight times in Scripture in various forms, and its meaning is not always clear. In his interpretation of 0.70 in this verse, Kimhi relates it to 0.70 (Ex.26:12a), where it has the sense of "excess," "remainder" or "overhanging portion." According to this interpretation, it refers to the long wide garments which drape over the sides of the couches upon which they are placed, indicating luxurious living. The Rabbis, on the other hand, as cited by Kimhi, regard 0.700 as "stench," the stench of semen on the beds of those who engaged in sex orgies involving the exchanging of wives. Targum is then cited in support

#### 6:7b

6:8a

According to Targum,  $\nearrow k \nearrow N$  means  $\nearrow \nearrow N$ , "to disgrace" or "make vile." Rashi cites this view to support his interpretation that  $\nearrow \not \sim \nearrow N$  should be understood as if it were  $\nearrow \nearrow \nearrow N N$ , "to loathe" (cf. chapt. I, 6:8a).

Kimhi, on the other hand, is at variance with Targum and Rashi, explaining that in the Bible there are instances where identical roots apparently have antithetical meanings. He cites  $\ell \supset \ell N$ , "to uproot" (Job 28:9b), and  $\ell' \supset \ell N$ , "to take root" (Job 5:3a). Therefore, in one context (i.e. Ps. 119:174a)  $rac{rac{rac}{rac}}{rac{rac}}$  can mean "to long for," while in another (i.e. Am.6:8a) it can be the antithesis, "to have an aversion for." For Kimhi there is no need to resort to another root

such as  $\mathcal{N}\mathcal{N}$  in order to understand  $\mathcal{N}\mathcal{N}$ , and it is in this light that he adduces Targum.

#### 7:15

#### 7:166

 (cf. chapt. I, 2:11a, 12a). The only explanation for such a translation, which is clearly contrary to the plain meaning of  $D^{1}73J$ , is the Targumist's feeling that "teachers" is a better parallel to "prophets" than is "Nazarites."

8:35

Kimhi takes exception to Targum's unusual rendering of OD by  $\bigcap^i \bigcap O$ , "remove!" (cf. chapt. I, 6:10b, 8:3b), adopting rather the ordinary meaning, "silence!" He maintains this view in 6:10 as well, but there does not adduce Targum.

8:5a

Whereas Rashi, supported by Targum, interprets 724'

LANA as 7/2'YN LANA, "the intercalated month"

(cf. chapt. I, 8:5a), Kimhi offers the contrasting view that

LANA means 7'370 LANA, "the month of the harvest," and

that DAL in the following phrase 72 NNDJ/ NALO/

means 8/2L, "week." He thus explains that when the month

of harvest arrives and the poor come to purchase grain, they

are put off week after week until the grain becomes so expensive that it can be sold by the hoarders at virtually any

price they desire.

By viewing  $\mathcal{J} \nearrow \mathcal{L}$  as "week" he again stands in contrast to the Targumist, who regards it as the "Sabbatical year."

Kimhi explains that according to Targum, the dearth of grain during either a leap year or a Sabbatical year has the same deleterious effect of making the previous year's produce more

valuable and thus more expensive. "And hoarders of fruit," concludes Kimhi derisively, "yearn for a profitable year!"

According to the Masoretic spelling  $7 \not = 2$  would appear to be derived from  $7 \not = 2$ . "light." In all likelihood, however, it is from  $7 \not = 2$ . "Nile River." This becomes apparent after observing that, not only is it parallel to  $7 \not = 2$  in the same passage, but moreover, it is identical with  $7 \not = 2$  in 9:5b.

This is Kimhi's reasoning and it also accounts for Targum: (-70)J'NO, "like the waters of the river."

Rashi, however, cites Targum specifically to disagree with it. He first explains the basis for the Targumic rendering, namely, the parallel between 8:8 and 9:5, but then he rejects the whole idea and cites the contrasting opinion of others, himself included, that 7/60 is indeed from 7//6.

According to this interpretation the word 7//6 in context does not imply "light" at all, but rather, the antithesis "darkness." It is the thick darkness of nimbus clouds which blanket the sky before a rain storm. Thus, according to Rashi, 71/6 is synonymous with 10/6 / 100, "a rain cloud." He offers

a similar interpretation of 7/k in Job 36:32a and 37:11b which he alludes to, and in which he is in accordance with Targum.

#### 9:13a

# III. TARGUM CITATIONS AS ALTERNATE RENDERINGS IN THE INTERPRETATION OF DIFFICULT WORDS AND PHRASES

#### 3:12b

Both Rashi and Kimhi cite Targum as an alternate interpretation of LTX TRNGP/ DON DOD. Rashi explains Targum: \( \int \lambda \lambda

#### 4:2b

Kimhi explains Targum's rendering of  $\mathcal{NIJ3}$  and  $\mathcal{NIOO}$ , that they are "shields" and "boats." He then offers an alternate interpretation, not that they are "shields" and "boats" but rather that both are types of thorns. The sense of the passage would then be that the enemy shall drag their captives away with hooks and thorns, just as the fisherman his fish.

#### 4:6a

6:5a

Kimhi cites Targum as an additional interpretation of the obscure word  $\mathcal{O}'$  (72). Targum renders:  $\mathcal{O}'$  , "to play on a musical instrument," ad sensum. While Kimhi follows Menahem ben Saruk, as does Rashi, that it is like (72) (Levit. 19:10a), "the broken off," and refers to the (17)(17), "units" into which the poet divides his speech according to the melodies he plays. In his commentary Kimhi includes several other alternatives such as:  $\mathcal{O}'$  or  $\mathcal{O}'$  or referring respectively either to the "specific" songs being played, or to the "money" paid to the player.

#### 7:1a

Kimhi advances two opinions as to the meaning of the expression 23/. It either means "the gathering of locusts" or "the creation of locusts." Targum is cited in support of the latter possibility.

#### 7:145

In the case of OIP we are again dealing with a hapax legomenon. Kimhi first explains that there are those who interpret OIP as if it were eIP, "to search" or "examine,"

/c) \[ \sigma \land \sigma \sigma \sigma \sigma \sigma \rangle \rangle \sigma \sigma \rangle \

The concluding words of Targum found in Mikraoth Gedoloth:  $\begin{tabular}{ll} \begin{tabular}{ll} \beg$ 

#### IV. THE ELIMINATION OF POETIC IMAGERY FOR PROSE

Characteristic of the targumic style is the elimination of poetic imagery for prose. The Aramaic paraphrase is, therefore, both an amplification and an exposition of the Hebrew text. Moreover, in his attempt to dispose of poetic imagery, the Targumist makes of the Hebrew text a virtual allegory. He views almost every image figuratively even when no trope was intended by the prophet.

Both Rashi and Kimhi often employ Targum's prosaic interpretation for support or by way of contrast.

#### A. Targum Citations in Support

1:2b

1:3b

Kimhi has recourse to Targum to show that QY/Q f/c is the prophet's poetic way of referring to "the inhabitants of Gilead."

2:7a

In this verse Targum: /60N / 2/60 /3/ is cited by Kimhi to support his contention that the word /79

in the expression N'/N'/N'/N'/N', "And turn aside the way of the humble," is a figurative term for N'/N'/N' being synonymous with N/N'.

2:16b

Rashi adopts Targum's prosaic rendering that  $10/7\gamma$ , "naked," means "without weapons."

3:6a

If the Shofar were sounded at a time when the inhabitants of a city expected it, such as to announce a festive occasion or to convoke a meeting of the city council, it would certainly not create fear among them. If blown at any other time, however, when it is unexpected, it is a cry of danger. Kimhi, therefore, in order to explain the full significance of the prophet's rhetorical question:

Shall the horn be blown in the city,
And the people not tremble?

accepts the words added by Targum, 7/JN5 1672, "not at
its appointed time."

4:13a

Kimhi first explicates the plain meaning of TNL TLY

TO'Y, namely, that God can, at will, turn the light of morning into darkness. However, the full implication of the verse, according to Kimhi, is that all creation is at the mercy of the Creator. Therefore, man had better "prepare to meet his God" with righteous deeds, for God rewards the righteous and punishes the wicked. Targum's paraphrase is then cited by

him in support of his contention. According to Targum, God ordains light for the righteous, as the light of the morning, but prepares darkness for the destruction of the wicked.

5:8b, 9:6b

Rashi adopts Targum in contrast to the Rabbinic opinion.

Targum views the verse as a personification. "The waters of the sea" to whom God speaks are actually encampments of people so numerous that they resemble a vast ocean. And the pouring out of the waters over the earth is symbolic of God's scattering of the multitude which is gathered together.

The Rabbis, however, take the verse literally, as an allusion to God's having caused the Mediterranean to inundate the land destroying a generation of men. That Rashi prefers Targum is evident from his comment on the identical Hebrew text in 9:6, where he simply cites the Aramaic.

5:21b

The problem in this verse is, "How is it possible to smell N/237, "solemn assemblies?" Rashi resolves it as a case of synecdoche by adducing Targum: 1/232/212/212, which indicates that it is not the assemblies which are meant, but rather the sacrifices which are offered at those sacred gatherings.

6:8a

Kimhi cites Targum: 2/2/3 3/3/27 //6/3/2 to corroborate his assertion that 2/3/3/3 is an appel-

lative for "the Temple."

Rashi, having adopted Targum, is in accord with this view.

6:11

Having explained that  $\mathcal{O}'O'O$  are fragments, smaller in size than  $\mathcal{O}'Y \cap \mathcal{O}$ , Rashi proceeds to adduce Targum. His interest in Targum, however, is not to further explicate the word in question. He cites the Aramaic, rather, in support of his notion that the size of the blow is in direct proportion to the importance of the place against which it is hurled. Thus, in accordance with Targum's allegory, the large kingdom is struck by a powerful blow and the small kingdom by a weak one. The curious thing is that Rashi entertains this thought and validates it although it is founded on an interpretation of  $\mathcal{O}'O'O$  and  $\mathcal{O}'Y \cap \mathcal{O}$  that runs counter to his own understanding that  $\mathcal{O}'Y \cap \mathcal{O}$  are larger than  $\mathcal{O}'O'O$ . Apparently Rashi regards the idea expressed by Targum as something apart from the Hebrew text and, therefore, not contradictory to it.

Kimhi, too, adduces Targum, but by way of contrast (cf. chapt. IV, B, 6:11).

7:7b

Although the word  $\int \int \int c$  is rare, occurring only three times in the Bible, twice in 7:7 and once in 7:8, neither Rashi nor Kimhi cites Targum to explain its basic meaning. Both commentators are agreed that it stems from an Arabic root meaning "a plumb line." Their interest in Targum,

however, is to demonstrate that in context  $\gamma J/c$  is used as a metaphor for COLN, "justice." Accordingly, they adduce Targum which eliminates completely the image of the plumb line and substitutes for it J/Q, "justice."

9:2,3

Targum completely eliminates the poetic imagery of these two passages including all anthropomorphic references to God. It is noted with great interest that the Targumist does not appear here as the zealous opponent of anthropomorphisms, for he disposes of all imagery with as much assiduity.

Rashi's commentary on both verses is nothing more than a phrase by phrase adoption of Targum, while Kimhi does not rely on Targum at all (cf. chapt. IV, B, 9:3).

#### 9:11a

Rashi cites Targum to explain the poetic expression 3'/2 poo, "The tabernacle of David." Targum: Apple 3/2 poo, "The kingdom of the house of David."

## B. Targum Citations by Way of Contrast

## 1:25

Kimhi appears to be in consonance with both Rashi and Targum when he interprets //2/c, "mourn," as "destruction" (cf. chapt. IV, A, 1:2b). As evidence that the prophets used this verb figuratively, to express "destruction," he cites Hosea 4:3a: //2/c) //2/c) //2/c) //2/c) //2/c) //2/c0, one of several passages where the context demands such a rendering.  $^{30}$ 

However, he is forced to reject Targum for having made an allegory out of the entire verse, an allusion to the punishment which, according to the first of Amos' prophesies, would be fall Hazael and Ben-hadad (1:4).

## 4:1a

It is evident from Targum that  $\beta$   $\beta$   $\beta$   $\beta$   $\beta$  is a metaphor applied derisively toward the wealthy who "oppress the poor," and "crush the needy." Moreover, according to Rashi the feminine gender of  $\beta$  is a specific allusion to women. Thus, the invective is directed particularly against the wives of the ruling class. Targum, therefore, is actually cited in contrast, although both interpretations support the allegory.

#### 4:11a

The Targumist regards NOP  $^{\prime}DOD$  as a figure of speech expressing God's intention to exile the inhabitants of Israel. He, therefore, paraphrases:  $^{\prime}ON^{\prime}N$   $^{\prime}OO$   $^{\prime}OO$   $^{\prime}OO$   $^{\prime}OO$ , "My Memra has removed you." Kimhi, on the other hand, interprets literally, that a portion of the land already lies desolate like Sodom and Gommorah as evidence of divine retribution. Yet, the awesome sign is to no avail, for it does not effectuate a return to God.

The use of the word  $'\mathcal{I}\mathcal{N}'\mathcal{N}$  in Targum should not be regarded as an attempt by the Targumist to dispose of an anthropomorphism. It is evident from his paraphrase of

 $\mathfrak{I}(N)$   $\mathfrak{I}$ 

## 6:11

Kimhi elucidates the meaning of the rare word  $\mathcal{N}'O'O7$ . It is something broken or crushed into pieces, analogous to  $\mathcal{N}'\mathcal{N}\mathcal{P}$ . He concludes by adducing Targum, for he is struck by the sharp contrast between his own methodical verbal analysis and Targum's figurative interpretation, in which  $\mathcal{N}'\mathcal{P}$  and  $\mathcal{N}'\mathcal{P}\mathcal{P}$  become "the large kingdom" and "the small kingdom," and in which  $\mathcal{N}'O'O$  and  $\mathcal{N}'\mathcal{N}\mathcal{P}\mathcal{P}$  become nothing more than adjectives for "strong" and "weak" respectively.

Rashi adduces Targum on this passage for support (cf. chapt. IV, A, 6:11).

## 8:85

Both Targum and Kimhi's father offer figurative renderings of this verse. Targum's interpretation is that the land shall be flooded with an invading army and the inhabitants shall be exiled. Kimhi's father also sees an allusion to the exile. Just as the Nile leaves its place of origin, floods the surrounding land and sinks into the ditches which have

been dug, so too shall the people leave their homeland and sink into exile. Kimhi, in contrast to his father and Targum, interprets literally that waters will surge up like those of the Nile and inundate the surrounding land.

## 8:14a

Kimhi is at variance with Targum as to the meaning of the phrase  $\gamma \mathcal{P} \mathcal{L} / \mathcal{L} / \mathcal{P} / \mathcal{P}$ 

#### 9:3

Targum disposes of all poetic imagery in both 9:2 and 9:3. But, whereas, Rashi completely adopts Targum's paraphrase (cf. chapt. IV, A, 9:2,3), Kimhi merely cites it by way of contrast to his own more literal interpretation.

## V. MISCELLANEOUS

# A. To Elucidate Grammatical Problems

In only three instances in the Book of Amos is Targum employed in the explication of a grammatical problem, and in each instance it is Kimhi who cites the passage, twice by way of contrast and once as an alternate possibility. Rashi, surprisingly, does not resort to Targum in resolving such problems. However, this in no way precludes the possibility of his reverting to Targum in other biblical books when faced with an enigma of grammar.

## 1. By Way of Contrast

5:11a

Targum is cited by Kimhi as being grammatically impossible with regard to  $\rho$ 00 $\ell$ 1 $\rho$ . This passage has already been discussed at length in Chapter II.

6:6a

In the expression /" 'P73N2, 'P73N appears to be in the construct state with /". Kimhi explains, however, that it is in the absolute state, and authenticates his assertion by citing several other examples of words in the Bible which look like constructs although they are not. According to Kimhi, then, the passage means: "Who drink wine in huge bowls." In contrast, Targum maintains 'P73N as a construct by supplying the missing word \$1000. Thus, Targum renders: "Who drink wine in bowls of silver."

Although Kimhi is ostensibly at variance with Targum, one might say that there is partial agreement between them, since the targumic rendering does make it evident that '775N', though it be a construct, is not in construct with /''.

Kimhi then cites a similar instance in which he takes issue with Targum. In the expression 0.7/9/6.100 (Judges 5:25b), he considers 10.0 as an absolute modified by the adjective 10.7/9/6 meaning "large," even though 10.0 is singular and 10.7/9/6 plural. The expression, thus, refers to a large bowl out of which great and mighty men drink. Accordingly, JPS renders: "in a lordly bowl."

## 2. As an Alternate Rendering

5:10b

In the expression  $\mathcal{N}'N\mathcal{N} / \mathcal{N}' / \mathcal{N}'$ 

# B. For Midrashic Interpretation

In the following three instances it was possible to trace the Targum back to its midrashic source.

## 1. In Support

9:1a

According to the Targum, which Rashi adopts, Amos did not see "the Lord standing beside the altar," but rather he saw "the glory of the Lord ascend from the Cherub and reside beside the altar." Rashi sees in Targum's interpretation of Amos' vision an allusion to the ten journeys by which the Divine Presence left the Temple and Israel prior to the first destruction (Rosh ha-Shanah 31a).

## 2. By Way of Contrast

9:1a

tion. The accent is mil'el indicating that we might be operating with a segolate noun NS3 like NS5, with a "Beth" prefix. Or it might be, as most scholars think, the imperative of Y33 with a third person masculine plural pronominal suffix. One would then expect a "Sere" under the "Ayin" and not a "Pathah," but this could be due to the closed unaccented syllable which requires a short vowel, specifically the "Pathah" because of the gutteral "Ayin." Adding support to its being an imperative is the fact that its parallel verb

is the perfect of Y32 with a "Waw" conversive and a third person masculine plural suffix. This reading would presuppose a "Quames" under the "Ayin," but again its absence can be explained by the presence of a gutteral in a closed unaccented syllable.

According to Rashi it is similar to  $NY3\partial/$  in form and meaning. Thus, he understands it as an imperative with a suffix meaning "and break them in pieces!" or "and wound them!" He then cites and explains the contrasting opinion of Targum, that  $NY3\partial/$  means NCON/, "and the Temple vessels." Rashi explains that the Targum understood  $NY3\partial$  to mean NJINN. He apparently realized that Targum's paraphrase was based on a reading  $NY3\partial/$  from the noun NSON/, "profit," which Targum generally translates NNN/, "wealth." Targum's rendering is probably based on the Midrash (Levit. R. 33,3) which interprets NYSON/ as NSON/ "robbery," from NSON/ "unjust gain of money."

Kimhi, too, cites Targum in contrast to his own view, but, moreover, quotes the entire Midrash upon which Targum is founded. Not only does this Midrash prove to be the source for Targum's rendering of NY32/, but it also explains Targum's mention of King Josiah, for according to this Midrash, Nee' of NS200, "'Smite the capitals,' this is Josiah."

# 3. As an Alternate Rendering

Kimhi admits finding this passage difficult to interpret. Thus, following his own rendering, he cites the opinions of Rashi, Ibn Ezra, his father Joseph Kimhi and Targum, and offers the reader the option of choosing the interpretation which appeals to him most.

Targum is cited for its interpretation of \( \int \)''\( \otin \otin \)''\( \otin \

Thus, according to Targum, Amos likens the Israelites to Cushites in a positive sense; Just as Zipporah the Cushite was beloved by all for superior beauty and character, so is Israel beloved by God.

# C. Targum of Another Biblical Book Cited to Help Elucidate the Text of Amos

On occasion the definition of a Hebrew or targumic word is clarified by resorting to the Targum of another biblical

book.

## 2:13a

Rashi explains that  $\int_{0}^{1} YN$  is analogous to  $\int_{0}^{1} 3N$ , "to bring into straits" or "to press upon," since  $\int_{0}^{1} YN$  is Targum's rendering of  $\int_{0}^{1} 3ND$  (Isa.51:13). Similarly Kimhi indicates that  $\int_{0}^{1} YN$  means "straits" or "distress" by citing  $\int_{0}^{1} DY$  as Targum's usual rendering of  $\int_{0}^{1} 3ND$ .

## 5:11a, 7:14b

Having offered the interpretation that O/A is synonymous with  $ellow{l}$ , Kimhi explains the meaning of  $ellow{l}$  by adducing the Targum of Genesis 31:35b where  $ellow{l}$ , "and he searched" is rendered  $ellow{l}$  by Targum.

## 5:26a

Kimhi cites the Targum of two additional passages (Isa. 8:21b and Zeph.1:5b) to show that whenever  $\int \mathcal{N}$  is used in an idolatrous sense Targum renders it  $\int \langle \mathcal{N} \rangle \langle \mathcal{$ 

## 6:6a

Kimhi's reason for citing the Targum of  $N'7'7/6\sqrt{20}$  (Jud.5:25b) is explained fully in sub-section A of this chapter.

## 6:7b

The targumic word  $/'\mathcal{I}\mathcal{I}\mathcal{N}$  is explained by Kimhi as "beds" by citing  $\mathcal{I}\mathcal{I}\mathcal{I}\mathcal{I}\mathcal{N}$  which is the Targum

for  $\Im 7/2\Im \Im \mathcal{N}$  (Ezek.23:41a). However, there is another tradition that the word in question should be written  $/^{\prime}2^{\prime}2\mathcal{N}$ . In that case Kimhi explains its meaning as "mantles" by citing  $^{\prime}1122/$ , the targumic translation of  $^{\prime}13/321$ , "and the mantles" (Isa.3:23b).

## 6:11a

Kimhi adduces the Targum for  $\mathcal{N}/\mathcal{N}\mathcal{I}$ , "crushed" (Levit. 22:24a) to explain the meaning of  $\mathcal{N}'\mathcal{O}'\mathcal{O}\mathcal{I}$ , for Targum renders it  $\mathcal{O}'\mathcal{O}\mathcal{I}\mathcal{I}$ .

## 9:1a

#### CONCLUSION

It has been shown that both Rashi and Kimhi have recourse to Targum in the elucidation of difficult Hebrew words and phrases, and that they also employ its prosaic interpretations of the poetry in the Hebrew text. Less frequently Targum is cited by them in the clarification of a difficult point of grammar, and at times it is adduced for its midrashic interpretation. There are also instances of their resorting to the Targum of another biblical book to help explicate the text of Amos.

As previously indicated, Kimhi adduces Targum slightly more often than Rashi, fifty-seven citations to fifty-four. However, it is evident that Rashi is far more dependent on Targum than Kimhi, for of his fifty-four citations, a total of forty-six of them are in support; whereas of Kimhi's fifty-seven citations, only thirteen support him. In fact, in thirty-nine instances Rashi simply adopts Targum, sometimes with an explanation, at other times without further comment. Kimhi, however, adopts Targum on only four occasions and never without further comment. Moreover, in only five cases does Rashi adduce Targum by way of contrast, and in only two cases as an alternate rendering, as compared with twenty-six contrasting citations and six alternate renderings by Kimhi. Therefore, though Kimhi recognizes Targum as a source of primary importance in his biblical exeges and quotes it

extensively, as Dr. Harry Cohen put it, "his use of it is critical and independent."  $^{37}$ 

#### NOTES

- <sup>1</sup>Marcus Jastrow, A Dictionary of the Targumim, the Talmud Babli and Yerushalmi, and the Midrashic Literature (New York: Pardes Publishing House, Inc., 1950), p. 243.
- $^{2}$  Ibid., p. 489.
- $^3$ Rashi uses  $72/\sqrt{}$  synonymously with  $\sqrt{}$
- <sup>4</sup>Cf. Solomon Mandelkern, <u>Concordance on the Bible</u> (New York: Shulsinger Brothers, 1955), II, 819.
- <sup>5</sup>Jastrow, op. cit., p. 611.
- For instances of 1000 meaning "meet" or "encounter," cf. Francis Brown, S.F. Driver and Charles A. Briggs, A Hebrew and English Lexicon of the Old Testament (Oxford: At the Clarendon Press, 1957), p. 896.
- The correct vocalization of 7'77 is 7'77, the active participle, cf. The Bible in Aramaic, ed. Alexander Sperber (Leiden: E.J. Brill, 1962), III, 424.
- <sup>8</sup>Brown, Driver and Briggs, op. cit., p. 1072.
- 9 The exceptions are in Prov. 4:24a and 4:27b, where Targum renders 72% and 72%, respectively, for 700, and in Jer. 5:10b, where it renders 17% for 17'00. Cf. also Hayyim Joshua Kasowski, Concordance to Targum Onkelos (Jerusalem: Halbri, 1935), Maphteah la-Torah, II, 80, for the usual rendering of 700 by Onkelos. Generally 760 is Targum for 75%, cf. ibid., I, 342-344.
- 10 Jastrow, <u>op</u>. <u>cit</u>., p. 997.
- 11 <u>Ibid.</u>, p. 1552.
- 12 Brown, Driver and Briggs, op. cit., p. 658.
- 13 Jastrow, op. cit., p. 356.
- 14Cf. notes, Parshandatha: The Commentary of Rashi on the Prophets and Hagiographs, ed. I. Maarsen (Jerusalem, 1936), III, 45.
- <sup>15</sup>Cf. Chapt. II, 8:8b.
- <sup>16</sup> Jastrow, <u>op. cit.</u>, pp. 1508, 1539 and 1531.

- Parshandatha..., op. cit., I, 38.
  The Bible in Aramaic, op. cit., III, 421.
- 18 Isa. 14:19a, 'JJ'CN.
- <sup>19</sup>Cf. note 7.
- 20 Jastrow, <u>op. cit.</u>, p. 1254.
- <sup>21</sup>Ibid., p. 1090.
- <sup>22</sup>Ibid., p. 316.
- <sup>23</sup>Ibid., p. 926.
- 24 Brown, Driver and Briggs, op. cit., p. 667.
- <sup>25</sup>Ibid., p. 827.
- <sup>26</sup>Cf. Jastrow, <u>op</u>. <u>cit</u>., p. 174.
- <sup>27</sup>Mandelkern, op. cit., I, 202.
- $^{28}\text{Pinkhos Churgin,}$  Targum Jonathan to the Prophets (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1907), p. 144.
- <sup>29</sup>Rashi learns of the Arabic root of  $\beta$  from Dunash ibn Labrat, whom he cites.
- $^{30}$  Kimhi cites Hos. 4:3a:  $_{10}$   $_{10}$   $_{10}$   $_{10}$   $_{10}$   $_{10}$   $_{10}$   $_{10}$  , as his proof text to show that  $_{10}$   $_{10}$  means "destruction." Cf. also Kimhi's commentary on Jer. 4:28a, 12:4a and Joel 1:10a.
- <sup>31</sup>Cf. George Foot Moore, <u>Judaism</u> (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1958), I, 417-421.
- $^{32}$ Brown, Driver and Briggs, op. cit., p. 706.
- The Mikraoth Gedoloth text of Targum, Pardes edition, reads (RQPN N'A')N'.
- Cf. notes to Leviticus Rabbah 33,3 in Midrash Wayyikra Rabbah, ed. Mordecai Margulies (Jerusalem, 1958), IV, 760-761.
- <sup>36</sup>Schulim Ocher, "Zipporah," <u>The Jewish Encyclopedia</u> (New York and London: Funk and Wagnalls Company, 1906), XII, 687.

The Commentary of Rabbi David Kimhi on Hosea, ed. Harry Cohen (New York: Columbia University Press, 1929), p. xxx.

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Bible in Aramaic, The. Ed. Alexander Sperber. Vol. III. Leiden: E.J. Brill, 1962.
- Brown, Francis, and others. A Hebrew and English Lexicon of the Old Testament. Oxford: At the Clarendon Press, 1957.
- Churgin, Pinkhos. Targum Jonathan to the Prophets. New Haven: Yale University Press, 1907.
- Commentary of Rabbi David Kimhi on Hosea, The. Ed. Harry Cohen.

  New York: Columbia University Press, 1929.
- Holy Scriptures, The. Philadelphia: The Jewish Publication Society of America, 1917.
- Jastrow, Marcus. A Dictionary of the Targumim, the Talmud
  Babli and Yerushalmi, and the Midrashic Literature.

  Vols. I and II. New York: Pardes Publishing House, Inc.,
  1950.
- Kasowski, Hayyim Joshua. Concordance to Targum Onkelos. Vols. I and II. Jerusalem: Halbri, 1935.
- Mandelkern, Solomon. Concordance on the Bible. Vols. I and II. New York: Shulsinger Brothers, 1955.
- Midrash Wayyikra Rabbah. Ed. Mordecai Margulies. Vol. IV. Jerusalem, 1958.
- Mikraoth Gedoloth. Basel, 1619; and New York; Pardes Publishing House, Inc., 1951.
- Moore, George Foot. <u>Judaism</u>. Vol. I. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1958.
- Ocher, Schulim, "Zipporah," <u>The Jewish Encyclopedia</u>. Vol. XII. New York and London: Funk and Wagnalls Company, 1906.
- Parshandatha: The Commentary of Rashi on the Prophets and Hagiographs. Ed. I. Maarsen. Vol. I. Amsterdam: Menno Hertzberger, 1930. Vol. III. Jerusalem, 1936.
- Saruk, Menahem ben. Mahbereth Menahem. Ed. H. Filipowski. London and Edinburg, 1854.